## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

	:
PAMELA PERERA,	:
	:
Appellant,	:
V.	:
	:
UNITED STATES FIDELITY	:
& GUARANTY COMPANY,	:
	:
Appellee.	:

CASE NUMBER: SC08-1968

## ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

:

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, PAMELA PERERA

Charles P. Schropp Florida Bar Number: 206881 Charles M. Schropp Florida Bar Number: 583227 Schropp Law firm, P.A. 2309 South MacDill Ave., Suite 101 Tampa, Florida 33629 Telephone: (813) 418-3320 Facsimile: (813) 418-3321 E-Mail: chuck@schropplaw.com charles@schropplaw.com

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Appellant, Pamela Perera, as personal representative of the Estate of Mitchell Kenneth Perera, refers to herself as "Perera." Perera refers to Estes Express Lines Corporation as "Estes."

Perera refers to Appellee, United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company, as "USF&G," and to its policy at issue as the "USF&G Policy;" to Federal Insurance Company, a member of the Chubb Group, as "Chubb," and to its policy at issue as the "Chubb Policy;" and to Cigna Property and Casualty Insurance Company as "Cigna," and to its policy at issue as the "Cigna Policy."

Perera designates references to the record on appeal by the prefix "DE" for docket entry, followed by the exhibit number (Ex.) and/or page number (p.) of the document. Trial exhibits which do not have a separate docket number are designated by the prefix "Pl. Ex." or "Def. Ex."

References to the Eleventh Circuit briefs will be designated as "USF&G 11th Cir. Br," or "Perera 11th Cir. Br.," followed by the page number of the reference.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### I. Statement Of The Case.

Perera, as the assignee of Estes, filed a two-count complaint against USF&G in the Circuit Court for Hillsborough County, Florida (DE 2); USF&G removed the action to federal court (DE 3). Count I of Perera's complaint was for breach of contract and sought recovery of the \$1 million policy limits of the USF&G Policy (DE 2, pp. 6-7). Count II of the complaint was for bad faith and sought recovery of the remaining \$4 million balance due on a \$10 million consent judgment in favor of Perera against Estes and certain of its employees (DE 2, pp. 7-10).

Both counts of the complaint were resolved in the trial court by summary judgment. Based on the magistrate's recommendation, the district court granted summary judgment to Perera on Count I, resolving the coverage issue in Perera's favor (DE 112, p. 2). USF&G did not appeal this judgment. However, the magistrate recommended that summary judgment be entered for USF&G on Count II of the complaint on the single ground that no excess judgment existed upon which to base a bad faith claim (DE 73, pp. 24-25). The district court adopted this recommendation and entered judgment in USF&G's favor on Count II (DE 112, pp. 1-2).

Perera appealed the adverse summary judgment. On February 27, 2007, the Eleventh Circuit issued an opinion indicating that it intended to certify the "no

excess judgment" issue to this Court for resolution. However, to insure that this represented the controlling legal issue in the case, the court first remanded the case to the district court for a factual determination as to whether USF&G had acted in bad faith. On January 22, 2008, following a one-week trial, a jury reached a verdict finding that USF&G's conduct constituted bad faith under Florida law (DE 288). USF&G filed post-trial motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial (DE297, 298). These motions were denied by the district court (DE 320). The Eleventh Circuit then ordered additional briefing on the issues raised by USF&G's post-trial motions. On October 9, 2008, the Eleventh Circuit issued an opinion that affirmed the jury verdict and the district court's denial of USF&G's post-trial motions and certified two questions to this Court.

#### II. Statement Of The Facts.

Mitchell Kenneth Perera was working as a newly-hired employee of Estes, a large trucking company, when, on April 11, 1997, he was crushed to death when an unoccupied idling tractor, known as a "yard dog," spontaneously went into reverse while he was standing behind it. As a result of Mitchell Perera's death, Perera, as personal representative of her husband's estate, filed a damages suit in Florida circuit court against Estes and certain of its employees (DE 73, p. 2). Perera subsequently filed an amended complaint in the state action to state a wrongful death claim for intentional acts designed to result in injury or death or conduct substantially certain to result in injury or death. Perera also filed a second amended complaint that added claims for punitive damages; the trial court made a judicial determination that there was a sufficient evidentiary basis for Perera to assert claims for punitive damages arising out of Mitchell Perera's death. *Id*.

The liability insurance potentially applicable to the Perera claim consisted of three policies. Estes had a workers compensation/employers' liability policy with USF&G that covered both workers compensations claims and claims asserted against Estes by its employees that fell outside the exclusive remedy provisions of the workers compensation law (DE 37, p. 2). The USF&G Policy covered only Estes; it did not provide coverage to the Estes employees who had also been sued by Perera, since only Estes was an insured under the policy. *Id.* The USF&G Policy had limits of \$1 million for employer's liability coverage; these limits applied over a \$350,000 self-insured retention (DE 37, p. 1).

Estes also had a commercial general liability policy issued by Cigna (DE 37, p. 1). The Cigna Policy provided coverage to Estes' employees, but not to Estes, because of an employer's liability exclusion (DE 51, pp. 48-49). The Cigna Policy had policy limits of \$1 million, subject to a \$500,000 deductible (DE 37, p. 1).

Estes' third policy was a commercial umbrella excess policy issued by Federal Insurance Company, a Chubb company. The Chubb Policy specifically provided that it was excess to the USF&G Policy and to the Cigna Policy (DE 75, p. 8; DE 43, p. 15). The Chubb Policy had limits of \$25 million, but required that the limits of all applicable underlying policies be exhausted before its excess coverage attached to a claim (DE 49, p. 22 & Ex. 3, at p. 3).

Chubb's coverage "followed form" to USF&G's and Cigna's underlying policies (DE 73, p. 3). Estes' insurance program required Estes to provide its own defense for liability claims; however, Estes' defense costs served to reduce the \$350,000 self insured retention in the USF&G Policy (DE 73, p. 31; DE 43, p. 8).

USF&G's response to notification of Perera's lawsuit was to issue what USF&G called a "reservation of rights" letter with respect to Estes' coverage for the Perera claim. However, USF&G's letter effectively amounted to a denial of coverage since it stated that, to the extent that Perera established that Estes had engaged in conduct "substantially certain to result in injury or death . . . there would be no coverage available under the USF&G policy" (Pl. Ex. 10, p. 3) This was a "heads I win, tails you lose" coverage position because Estes would have no liability to Perera because of workers' compensation immunity if the "substantially certain" test were not met (DE 311, pp. 140-41). This coverage position, by USF&G's own admission, remained unchanged throughout the lawsuit (DE 313, p. 58).

As the lawsuit progressed, Estes' interest in settling became more acute as the case against it and its employees went from bad to worse. For example, Estes' concern grew when its motion for summary judgment based upon workers' compensation immunity was denied (DE 306, p. 27). Another milestone of concern occurred later when Perera was allowed to amend her complaint to seek punitive damages against Estes and its employees (DE 306, p. 61).

A mediation in the case was held in March, 2001. At this mediation, CIGNA, the general liability carrier that provided primary coverage for Estes' employees, made the full limits of its policy available for settlement (DE 306, p. 52). Chubb also acknowledged responsibility to provide coverage under its excess policy for Perera's claim. USF&G, however, did not follow suit.

The evidence regarding USF&G's proposed settlement position was disputed. Some witnesses testified that USF&G offered to contribute nothing, or only a nominal amount, toward a settlement (DE 49, p. 53; DE 48, p. 116). USF&G claimed that, solely out respect for its business relationship with Estes, it would have been willing to pay between \$100,000 and \$200,000 as part of an overall resolution of the case (DE 44, p. 58; DE 43, p. 20). However, even under USF&G's version of the facts, there was at least an \$800,000 coverage gap that

had to be filled before Chubb's excess policy would attach to the claim against Estes. Moreover, USF&G's claimed offer was conditioned on being "part of an overall resolution of the case" or, stated otherwise, that USF&G would be excused from paying the 80% to 90% of its policy limits that it was not contributing to the settlement. *Id*.

The mediation did not result in a settlement. In the months following mediation, counsel for Estes wrote to USF&G explaining why there was coverage under its policy and imploring it to reconsider and tender its policy limits (Pl. Ex. 15). Equally significantly, counsel for Chubb, the excess carrier with a "follow-form" policy, wrote two letters to USF&G explaining its reasoning as to why USF&G's policy provided coverage for the Perera claim (Pl. Exs. 16, 23). However, USF&G refused to change its position or to tender its policy limits.

Because of USF&G's refusal to participate meaningfully in settlement negotiations, and because Chubb was not prepared to advance USF&G's \$1 million share of a settlement, Chubb and Estes explored settlement alternatives with Perera's counsel that did not include USF&G's participation (DE 48, pp. 168-169). These parties were ultimately able to reach a settlement that was memorialized in a Stipulation to Settle, a release from Perera to Chubb, and a subsequent assignment by Estes of its claims against USF&G to Perera (DE 36, Ex. 11; DE 48, p. 121 & Ex. 18). This settlement was consummated in August, 2001 (DE 306, p. 15).

The Stipulation to Settle called for the case to be resolved by entry of a consent judgment in favor of Perera and against Estes and its employees in the amount of \$10 million, subject to court approval (DE 36, Ex. 11). The Stipulation to Settle was subsequently approved by a Florida circuit court judge following an evidentiary hearing at which the court found there was a reasonable basis for imposing liability on the defendants, that the terms of the Stipulation to Settle were reasonable, and that the settlement sum of \$10 million was reasonable (DE 36, Ex. 12). Significantly, USF&G also expressly stipulated in the district court that the \$10 million settlement sum provided in the Stipulation to Settle was reasonable in amount (DE 306, p. 15).

The Stipulation to Settle called for \$5 million of the settlement sum to be paid in cash. This payment was composed of \$500,000 from Cigna (representing its \$1 million policy limits less the policy's \$500,000 deductible), \$750,000 from Estes,<sup>1</sup> and \$3.75 million from Chubb. Chubb's \$3.75 million payment was made under both its excess employer's liability and general liability coverages (DE 48,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In addition to its \$750,000 cash contribution to the settlement, Estes also paid \$509,317.78 in attorneys' fees and court costs; \$100,000 in worker's compensation indemnity to Perera; \$5,000 in medical payments; and \$6,058.74 in expenses (DE 36, Ex. 14).

pp. 171-172). The remaining \$5 million was to be paid out of the proceeds of a bad faith action against USF&G which Estes agreed either to bring itself or to assign to Perera (DE 36, Ex. 11).

As consideration to Chubb for waiving the attachment point of its policy and paying to resolve the claim against Estes even though USF&G had not paid its underlying limits, the settlement limited Chubb's total liability for the Perera claim to the \$3.75 million Chubb was paying as part of the settlement. The settlement documents accomplished this by eliminating both possible sources of potential exposure to additional liability for Chubb -- Perera, the claimant, and Estes, the insured. Perera provided Chubb with a release for any claims arising out of Mitchell Perera's death (DE 48, p. 121). The potential of a further claim against Chubb by Estes, its insured, was precluded by including a provision in the Stipulation to Settle under which Plaintiff agreed to accept the proceeds of the lawsuit against USF&G as a complete satisfaction of her consent judgment, even if there were no proceeds (DE 36, Ex. 11, p. 6). By eliminating any possibility that Estes could have further personal liability to Perera, the parties to the settlement also eliminated the possibility that Estes would have any further claim against the Chubb policy arising out of the Perera claim.

Perera subsequently brought suit as Estes' assignee against USF&G in Florida state court (DE 2). USF&G removed the action to federal court (DE 3).

Count I of Perera's complaint asserted that USF&G had breached the terms of its policy to Estes by failing to provide coverage to Estes for Perera's claim, and sought USF&G's \$1 million policy limits as damages (DE 2, pp. 6-7). The district court entered summary judgment for Perera on this count, which USF&G did not appeal (DE 112, p. 2). Count II of Perera's complaint alleged bad faith and sought recovery of the \$4 million remaining due under Perera's consent judgment (DE 2, pp. 7-10). The magistrate recommended that summary judgment be entered for USF&G on this count on a single ground, namely that no excess judgment existed because Estes purportedly still had \$21 million in coverage available from Chubb to satisfy the consent judgment (DE 73, p. 25). The district court adopted this recommendation and entered judgment in favor of USF&G solely on the basis of USF&G's affirmative defense of "no excess judgment" (DE 112, p. 1).

Perera appealed this judgment. The Eleventh Circuit initially ordered a remand to the district court to make a factual determination of whether USF&G had acted in bad faith; this remand resulted in a jury verdict finding that USF&G's conduct constituted bad faith under Florida law, which the Eleventh Circuit affirmed. The Eleventh Circuit has now certified the "no excess judgment" issue to this Court for resolution in the form of two certified questions.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal is before this Court on two certified questions from the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals.

The first certified question is whether an excess judgment is required in order to maintain a bad faith claim under Florida law. The only "excess judgment" that is required is a judgment that exceeds the limits of the insurer accused of bad faith, which indisputably exists here. When an insured has excess coverage, a judgment that also exceeds the limits of that excess coverage is not required. To the contrary, when the judgment exceeds the limits of the defaulting insurer but is within the limits of an excess policy, the excess insurer "stands in the shoes of the insured" and may bring its own bad faith action.

What occurred here was that, rather than have the excess carrier pursue the bad faith action, Estes agreed to allow its excess carrier to "cash out" of the case by effectively reducing its coverage limits in exchange for paying most of the sum that USF&G should have paid under its primary coverage. The new excess coverage limits were less than the consent judgment against Estes. Estes then assigned its consequent coverage and bad faith action against USF&G to Perera, who agreed to accept them as her sole source of additional compensation for the wrongful death action.

The second certified question is whether a bad faith action may be maintained when the insured was not exposed to liability in excess of the limits of its insurance. The answer to this question is "yes." When an insurer has breached its good faith duty to settle, an insured is not obligated to expose itself to personal liability in any amount, but may settle the case by entering into a reasonable, good faith consent judgment that is collectible only from the insurer and releases the insured from personal liability. USF&G's argument that it is excused from liability for its bad faith because Chubb excess coverage remains available to pay the unsatisfied portion of Perera's consent judgment is also incorrect. The intent of the settling parties, as reflected in the settlement documents, was to limit Chubb's coverage for the Perera claim to the \$3.75 million it paid toward the settlement. Under both Florida law and established Florida public policy, this intention must be respected.

#### ARGUMENT

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This case comes before the Court as the result of certified questions from the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal requesting this Court's analysis of issues of Florida insurance law. This case has proceeded somewhat unusually from a procedural perspective in that the Eleventh Circuit ordered that a bad faith trial be held prior to before submitting the "threshold legal issue" concerning bad faith actions to this Court (DE 129, p. 2). Because the issues presented by the Eleventh Circuit's questions are issues of law, a *de novo* standard of review applies. See, e.g., Bell v. Indian River Mem. Hosp., 778 So. 2d 1030, 1032 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). Moreover, as is expressly acknowledged in the Eleventh Circuit's opinion, the questions submitted are not intended to limit this Court's "scope of inquiry." Perera v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 544 F.3d 1271, 1279 (11th Cir. Fla. 2008) ("Perera"). "This latitude extends to the Supreme Court's restatement of the issue or issues and the manner in which the answers are given." Id. (citing Washburn v. Rabun, 755 F.2d 1404, 1406 (11th Cir. 1985)).

### AS TO CERTIFIED QUESTION NO. 1

## THE ONLY EXCESS JUDGMENT NEEDED TO SUPPORT A BAD FAITH CLAIM UNDER FLORIDA LAW INDISPUTABLY EXISTS IN THIS CASE; THE TYPE OF EXCESS JUDGMENT SUGGESTED BY THE FIRST CERTIFIED QUESTION IS NOT NECESSARY.

The first question that the Eleventh Circuit has certified to this Court is phrased as follows:

## CAN A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BAD FAITH AGAINST THE INSURER BE MAINTAINED WHEN THERE IS NOT AN EXCESS JUDGMENT AGAINST THE INSURED?

*Perera*, at 1276.

The answer to this certified question depends on how the term "excess judgment" is defined. A limited type of "excess judgment," namely a judgment that exceeds the policy limits of the insurance carrier that is accused of bad faith, is normally required in order for a bad faith claim to accrue. There is no dispute that this type of excess judgment exists in this case; Perera's judgment against Estes was for \$10 million, while USF&G's policy limits were \$1 million.

However, it is apparent from the Eleventh Circuit's opinion that it has used the term "excess judgment" in its certified question to mean a judgment that exceeds the combined limits of all insurance coverage an insured has purchased, primary and excess, and not just the policy of the insurer claimed to have acted in bad faith. Indeed, the Eleventh Circuit began its discussion of this certified question in its opinion with an express statement of what it was referring to as an "excess judgment":

"In this case, as the magistrate judge held, there is no excess judgment against the insured, Estes. Viewed as of the time the settlement agreement was negotiated, Estes has \$25 million in insurance coverage -- \$1 million from the Cigna policy; \$1 million from the USF&G policy; and \$25 million from the Chubb policy, in excess of the other two policies. To constitute an excess judgment, there would have to have been a judgment in excess of \$25 million.

*Id.*, at 1275 - 76 (emphasis added). The second type of "excess judgment" that is referred to in the Eleventh Circuit's opinion is not a prerequisite to a cause of action for bad faith under Florida law.

In certifying its questions to this Court, the Eleventh Circuit has specified that its formulation of the questions is not intended to limit this Court's scope of inquiry. Its opinion specifically cites to *Washburn v. Rabun*, 755 F.2d 1404 (11th Cir. 1985), which holds that the phrasing used in certifying questions does not restrict the Florida Supreme Court's consideration of the issues in its analysis of the record and that this latitude extends to the restatement of the issue or issues and the manner in which the answers are given. Thus, this Court is free to distinguish between the different uses of the term "excess judgment" in responding to this certified question, and advise the Eleventh Circuit that, although a bad faith claim generally requires a judgment that exceeds the limits of the insurer accused of bad

faith, the type of "excess judgment" to which the Eleventh Circuit refers in its opinion is not required in order for a bad faith claim to exist under Florida law.

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