IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: SC08-1968

PAMELA PERERA

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES FIDELITY & GUARANTY COMPANY,

Appellee.

____/

APPELLEE UNITED STATES FIDELITY & GUARANTY COMPANY'S ANSWER BRIEF

Adorno & Yoss LLP

Jack R. Reiter Florida Bar No. 0028304 jrr@adorno.com Jordan S. Kosches Florida Bar No. 0049881 jkosches@adorno.com 2525 Ponce de Leon Boulevard, Suite 400 Miami, Florida 33134 Telephone: (305) 460-1000 Facsimile: (305) 460-1422

Attorneys for Appellee, United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court should answer the certified questions in the negative, and eliminate any doubt that an excess judgment remains the essence of a bad faith claim against an insurer or, alternatively, if an actual "judgment" against an insured is not required, a bad faith action will not lie if an insurer's conduct does not increase the risk of liability in excess of available insurance policy limits.

This Court has consistently concluded that the essence of a bad faith claim is an excess judgment, and this legal tenet is deeply-rooted in the well-established principle that an individual must suffer damages in order to state a cause of action. The Eleventh Circuit noted multiple decisions from this Court for this established conclusion. *Perera*, 544 F.3d at 1276 (citing *Berges v. Infinity Ins. Co.*, 896 So. 2d 665, 672 (Fla. 2004), *Rosen v. Fla. Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 802 So. 2d 291, 294 (Fla. 2001) (citing *Fid. Ins. Co. v. Cope*, 462 So. 2d 459, 460 (Fla. 1985)); *Cunningham v. Standard Guar. Ins. Co.*, 630 So. 2d 179, 181-82 (Fla. 1994); *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Zebrowski*, 706 So. 2d 275, 277 (Fla. 1997).

However, the Eleventh Circuit identified two district court decisions as raising confusion. Perera, 544 F.3d at 1276 (citing N. Am. Van Lines v. Lexington Ins., 678 So. 2d 1325, 1333 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Swamy v. Caduceus Self Ins. Fund, Inc., 648 So. 2d 758, 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)). As explained herein, this Court's stance on this pivotal issue has never wavered, and a bad faith claim cannot be advanced by the insured in the absence of an excess judgment. To the extent decisions from the Fourth or First District Courts of Appeal have caused confusion, they are distinguishable and do not announce a shift in Florida's commitment to established precedent. But as USF&G will demonstrate herein, both decisions actually support USF&G's position by reiterating the threshold requirement that an insured suffer exposure to damages in excess of available insurance coverage as a prerequisite to a bad faith claim. Accordingly, the Court should utilize this case as an opportunity to eliminate any further confusion as to this significant issue.

Moreover, the facts of this case justify this Court's commitment to precedent and exemplify the danger that exists if a plaintiff and defendant can simply manufacture a bad faith claim by agreeing upon a settlement sum or judgment against an insured that is within available policy limits, yet still open the door to a bad faith lawsuit by the insured or the insured's assignee against the insurer. USF&G had no duty to defend but consistently sought updates and attempted to participate in settlement negotiations; however, the Assignee and the Insured,

along with other carriers, crafted the Stipulation without USF&G's involvement and created a phantom judgment on paper. The judgment is within the Insured's available insurance coverage and, pursuant to the Stipulation, can never be enforced regardless of the outcome of the lawsuit against USF&G. Therefore, as the Eleventh Circuit concluded, the Insured will never face uninsured exposure. Allowing the Insured to nonetheless assign a bad faith claim under these circumstances is inconsistent with the purpose of bad faith litigation, which serves to compensate an insured that suffered uninsured exposure to damages. The Insured never faced exposure beyond policy limits, but nonetheless offered the Assignee a separate bad faith claim against USF&G as a bargaining chip. If insureds need not face excess exposure, or even the risk of liability beyond available coverage as a prerequisite to the ripening of a bad faith claim, Florida courts will be inundated with manufactured bad faith lawsuits against insurance carriers where a defendant-insured neither suffered nor faced uninsured exposure. but simply assigned a bad faith claim on paper as a matter of convenience and settlement leverage.

The Court should also reject the Assignee's blatant attempts to revisit established facts. The Eleventh Circuit held, as a factual matter, that the Insured never faced either an excess judgment or any increased risk of uninsured liability due to USF&G's conduct, and that Chubb, at all relevant times, indicated its intent to resolve the case without preconditions or risk to the Insured and in fact did so. *Perera*, 544 F.3d at 1277. It is also established beyond dispute that the Insured did not release Chubb or otherwise eliminate remaining coverage of \$21,000,000. *Id.* at 1274-77. The Assignee attempts to reargue these facts rather than addressing the legal questions presented. The Court should reject the Assignee's attempts to reargue facts under the guise of recasting the certified questions.

Finally, if the Court concludes that an excess judgment is not *per se* required against an insured in order to support a bad faith lawsuit by the insured against a carrier, the Court should answer the Eleventh Circuit's second question in the negative and conclude that, at the very least, the insurer's conduct must increase the risk of liability beyond an insured's various policy limits as a prerequisite to a bad faith claim. Neither logic nor law suggests that an insurer whose conduct did not increase the risk of an insured's liability to uninsured exposure should nonetheless be sued by the insured for bad faith. This case presents the paradigm for answering the Eleventh Circuit's second question in the negative. The Assignee's claim is pure artifice. It is a trumped-up judgment that, by its own terms, can never be enforced against the Insured and nonetheless falls within existing insurance coverage. The Assignee's argument seeks to pave the way to scores of bad faith lawsuits by insureds or their assignees that do not serve to compensate for any actual damage, but simply create bad faith claims as a matter of convenience. This Court should conclude that when an insurer does nothing

that increases the risk of an uninsured liability to an insured, the insured cannot sue for bad faith.

ARGUMENT

USF&G will address each question independently, noting that this Court's resolution of either one in the "negative" will eliminate any bad faith liability against USF&G in light of the established fact that the Insured did not suffer an excess judgment and no action by USF&G increased the risk of liability in excess of the Insured's various policies of insurance.

I. AN EXCESS JUDGMENT REMAINS THE ESSENCE OF A BAD FAITH CLAIM UNDER FLORIDA LAW.

The first question the Eleventh Circuit posed to the Court is:

Can a cause of action for bad faith against an insurer be maintained [by the insured or its assignee] when there is not an excess judgment against the insured?⁷

The answer is no. This Court has consistently concluded that an excess judgment is the essence of a bad faith claim against an insurer. *Macola v. Gov't Employees Ins. Co.*, 953 So. 2d 451 (Fla. 2007); *Berges*, 896 So. 2d at 672, *Rosen*, 802 So. 2d at 294 (citing *Cope*, 462 So. 2d at 460); *Cunningham*, 630 So. 2d at 181-82; *Zebrowski*, 706 So. 2d at 277. As this Court expressly held in *Camp v. St. Paul Fire*, 616 So. 2d 12, 14 (1993). "The insurer breaches its duty if it fails to act

⁷ USF&G respectfully suggests that adding the bracketed terminology more accurately presents the thrust of the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit without changing its scope.

in good faith and the third party obtains a judgment against the insured for an amount in excess of the policy coverage." (Emphasis added). It has long been established that if an insured does not suffer an excess judgment, a bad faith claim does not exist.

A. The Insured did not suffer an excess judgment.

The Assignee devotes the bulk of her brief to rearguing whether the Insured actually faced an excess judgment. According to the Assignee, the Court should conclude that if an insured faced a judgment that is larger than the limits offered by the insurer accused of bad faith but still within all available insurance coverage, this constitutes an excess judgment. Asking the Court to revisit this established fact is an unnecessary distraction and inappropriate. See Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Pozzi v Window Co., 984 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 2008) (declining to address issues beyond a question certified by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal when it was based upon factual issue to be resolved in the federal arena); Hawkins, 748 So. 2d 993, 997, n.5 (Fla. 1999) ("We decline to address the standing and treble damages issues raised by Ford and the *amici curiae* arguing in support of the position taken by Ford, as those issues are outside the scope of the certified question and already have been squarely addressed by the Eleventh Circuit.") (Emphasis added). As the Honorable Rosemary Barkett observed in a concurring opinion in Tucker v. Dep't of Corrections, 301 F.3d 1281, 1286 (11th Cir. 2002), the Florida Supreme Court's inherent authority to address issues beyond questions certified "certainly

does not describe certified question proceedings as a forum for the relitigation of all claims." Although the Eleventh Circuit already dispensed with this factual question, USF&G will address it succinctly so that the Court may focus on the certified question without distraction.⁸

As a threshold matter, the Assignee's assertion is inconsistent with the very Stipulation that created the bad faith claim because the Insured and the Assignee expressly recognized that the Insured did not suffer an excess judgment and never will (USF&G's Ex. 62 at 6). This presents the Assignee with an insurmountable hurdle that completely supports the Eleventh Circuit's conclusion. Regardless, when it comes to ascertaining the definition of an "excess judgment" this Court is not writing on a blank slate. In cases apparently overlooked by the Assignee, this Court has defined "excess judgment" in a way that supports the Eleventh Circuit's conclusion and devastates the Assignee's position. As this Court explained, "An excess judgment is defined as the difference between all available insurance coverage and the amount of the verdict recovered by the injured party." United Services Auto. Assoc. v. Jennings, 731 So. 2d 1258, 1259, n.2 (Fla. 1999) (emphasis added). See also Black's Law Dictionary at 859 (Bryan A. Garner, 8th

⁸ See also Major League Baseball v. Morsani, 790 So. 2d 1071, 1080 n.26 (Fla. 2001) ("We decline to address the other claim ... because it is outside the scope of the certified question and was not the basis of our discretionary review. As a rule, we eschew addressing a claim that was not first subjected to the crucible of the jurisdictional process set forth in article V, section 3, Florida Constitution.").

ed., West 2004) ("<u>Excess Judgment</u> – *Insurance*. A Judgment that exceeds <u>all</u> of the defendant's insurance coverage.") (Emphasis added).

The existing definition correctly focuses on injury to the insured, rather than the alleged transgression of a primary insurance carrier that does not expose an insured to liability. *Jennings*, 731 So. 2d at 1259 (citing *McLeod v. Continental Ins. Co.*, 591 So. 2d 621 (Fla. 1992) (emphasis added). In *McLeod*, which was superseded by statute on alternative grounds not relevant to the definition of "excess judgment", this Court noted that in both the first and third-party contexts, the insured must suffer damages in the form of an excess judgment to state a cause of action for bad faith. As this Court explained in *McLeod*, "[t]hird-party actions do not allow for the recovery of the excess judgment **in cases in which the insured is not damaged by the excess liability**." *Id.* at 624-25 (emphasis added).⁹

As explained in more detail below, the excess judgment requirement is consistent with the premise that without damages, a cause of action does not exist. Not surprisingly, no Florida court has ever suggested that an insured suffered an excess judgment and held the right to sue for bad faith when an excess carrier, rather than the insured itself, paid toward a claim due to a primary carrier's failure to settle within its own policy limits.

⁹ See Time Ins. Co., Inc. v. Burger, 712 So. 2d 389, 392 (Fla. 1998) (noting that *McLeod* has been overturned only to the extent that Section 627.727(10), Fla. Stat., authorized the recovery of the excess judgment in first party bad faith actions against uninsured motorist insurance carriers).

B. The Insured remains protected by excess insurance coverage that eliminates any risk of personal liability.

The Assignee next dispenses with the foregoing theory entirely and argues that even if the excess layer of coverage is considered when addressing whether an insured has suffered an excess judgment, the Insured in this case did suffer an excess judgment because Chubb "cash[ed] out" by settling the lawsuit against the Insured and eliminating existing coverage (I.B. at 11). The Assignee makes this assertion the lynchpin of its argument relating to both certified questions, but has neither factual nor legal support for this bold assertion. Indeed, the Eleventh Circuit expressly rejected this identical argument. *Perera*, 544 F.3d at 1274, 1277. Moreover, there is nothing in the factual record supporting the Assignee's argument that the parties intended for Chubb to eliminate any further available coverage for the Insured.

Indeed, it is clear and beyond dispute that the Insured **never released** Chubb (and never had any reason or obligation to do so). *Perera*, 544 F.3d at 1274. Moreover, nothing in the record supports the argument that Chubb (or any of the parties) intended to reduce Chubb's available policy limits. On the contrary, the Insured's counsel expressly testified that he did not believe that the Insured would be precluded from going back after Chubb if the Insured became liable for the remaining \$5,000,000 identified in the Stipulation (R51:159). Also, Chubb's agent, who testified at trial, never suggested that Chubb eliminated remaining coverage to

the Insured or that reducing policy limits constituted a condition of settling the lawsuit between the Assignee and the Insured. Furthermore, the Assignee completely ignores the fact that once Cigna tendered its policy, Chubb had an obligation to provide coverage because Chubb, as an umbrella carrier, insured over both USF&G and Cigna.¹⁰

The Assignee next contends that although the Insured did not execute a release in Chubb's favor, Chubb no longer has any liability because the Insured no longer has any liability. Specifically, the Assignee argues that "**[b]y eliminating any possibility that [the Insured] could have further personal liability to [the Assignee],** the parties to the settlement also eliminated the possibility that [the Insured] would have any further claim against Chubb arising out of [the Insured's] claim." (I.B. at 9) (emphasis added).

USF&G agrees that the Insured had no personal liability, and this concession by the Assignee not only eviscerates her argument, but reinforces USF&G's entire premise that an excess judgment or uninsured exposure is the *sine que non* of a bad faith claim.

¹⁰ Significantly, because the Cigna Policy provided coverage the employees who were sued for gross negligence, Cigna did not face the same coverage issue facing USF&G (USF&G's Ex. 6). The Assignee expressly sued the Insured for intentional misconduct, thereby potentially activating the intentional act exclusion. Therefore, coverage was a clearer question for Cigna than for USF&G, as this Court would ultimately establish in the *Travelers* decision.

The Stipulation makes very clear that the Assignee's "judgment" has been fully satisfied by payment of the \$5,000,000 already received (USF&G's Ex. 62). The Assignee expressly guaranteed that regardless of the outcome of her lawsuit against USF&G, she will provide a satisfaction of judgment and forfeit any further recovery (USF&G's Ex. 62 at 6). Also, the Stipulation does not eliminate or undermine Chubb's continuing coverage obligation for an additional \$21,000,000 in coverage, and whether any excess exists is obviously determined at the point when a "judgment" is entered. Stated simply, the Assignee cannot have it both ways. If, as the Assignee now concedes, the Insured was not subject to any personal liability, and insurance proceeds (minus the Insured's deductible in the Cigna Policy and self-insured retention in the USF&G Policy) completely satisfied the Assignee's claim and eliminated exposure to the Insured, then there is no excess judgment and no further claim for Chubb to insure against.¹¹ On the other hand, if the Insured did face additional responsibility for the remaining \$5,000,000 announced on paper (which it undisputedly does not), then Chubb is equally liable

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